2004

Kitches and Zorn, L.L.C., et al. v. Yong Woo Kim;  
Yong Hwan Kim aka Kim Yong Hwan; and Sak Kwi  
Suk aka Kwi Suk Kim : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j).

## **ISSUES**

I. Did the trial court err in its determination that the plain language of Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1, *et seq.* required plaintiff to both file its abstract of judgment in the Registry of Judgments and record the abstract of judgment at the office of the county recorder in order to attach its judgment lien to the real property? [Issue preserved in **R. at 54-106**, and **Tr. of 2/17/04 Hrg. at 1-11**]

Standard of Review: The trial court's interpretation of statutes, rules and ordinances is a question of law reviewed for correctness. See Rushton v. Salt Lake County, 977 P.2d 1201, 1203 (Utah 1999); Taylor ex rel. C.T. v. Johnson, 977 P.2d 479, 480 (Utah 1999).

II. Did the trial court err in its conclusion that the language of the statute was unambiguous and err in its decision to not consider evidence submitted regarding the legislative intent and history of the judgment lien statute? [Issue preserved in **R. at 54-106**, and **Tr. of 2/17/04 Hrg. at 1-11**]

Standard of Review: A question of legislative intent associated with statutory interpretation is a matter of law, not of fact. See State v. Mitchell, 824 P.2d 469, 471-72 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

**CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES AND  
REGULATIONS**

Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1

Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This matter arose when plaintiff tried to collect on a judgment obtained in Third District Court for Salt Lake County by filing a miscellaneous action in Davis County to execute on real property owned by defendant. Although plaintiff complied with the statutory requirements set forth in Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1(7) to create a lien on real property, the trial court determined Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5 required plaintiff to comply with a two-step process. Accordingly, the trial court determined plaintiff's lien was not properly perfected and granted defendant's motion to quash the Writ of Execution. Plaintiff appeals from the trial court's grant of defendant's motion to quash.

**STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Plaintiff sued defendant Yong Woo Kim in the Third District Court in and for Salt Lake County. Judge Timothy Hansen entered judgement on March 17, 2003 in favor of plaintiff and against defendant in the amount of approximately \$38,000.00 with interest accruing and with a provision allowing augmentation of the judgement by reasonable attorneys fees and costs incurred in effecting collection. **(R. at 1-2)** Plaintiff became aware that Yong Woo Kim was the sole owner of real property in Davis County,

and on May 9, 2003, it recorded an abstract of judgement with the Davis County Recorder in order to establish a lien on the real property. **(R. at 1-2, 32-41)**

After the abstract of judgement was recorded with the Davis County Recorder on May 9, 2003, defendant Yong Woo Kim deeded the real property at issue to his wife, Hye Ok Kim without consideration on May 12, 2003. **(R. at 117-118; Tran. of 2/17/04 hearing at p. 8)** That deed was subsequently recorded. Plaintiff filed a miscellaneous action in the Second Judicial District Court for Davis County for the purpose of obtaining judicial assistance with enforcement of the Third District Court Judgement through Sheriff's Sale. **(R. at 1-25)**

On November 25, 2003, plaintiff obtained a Writ of Execution from the Second District Court for the sale of defendant Kim's Davis County property which was located at 1106 East 400 North, Bountiful, Utah. **(R. at 26-29)** Defendant Kim objected to the Writ of Execution arguing that under Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5(2) plaintiff was required to not only record the Third District Court Judgement with the Davis County Recorder but to also file the Judgement in the Registry of Judgements at the Davis County District Court Clerk's office. **(R. at 42-44; 108-116)**

In response to defendant Kim's objection, plaintiff submitted Affidavits from the sponsor of the 2001 amendments to the Judgement Act, from the Davis County Attorney regarding his interpretation of the proper application of amended statute by the

Davis County Recorder, and by the Second District Court Clerk regarding the practices of the District Court, all to show that the additional filing argued by defendant Kim was not necessary or intended under the statute as amended in 2001. (**R. at 49-51; 52-53; 54-105**)

A hearing on the matter was held by Judge Rodney S. Page on February 17, 2004. On March 2, 2004, Judge Page entered an Order quashing the execution on the real property for the reasons argued by defendant Kim. (**R. at 117-118; 119-121**) Specifically, the trial court determined the statutory language was unambiguous in creating a two-step process for attaching a lien to real property and declined to consider the affidavits submitted by plaintiff. (**Tr. at 5-8, 10**)

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The sole issue on appeal is whether the trial court properly interpreted the judgment lien statute found at Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1, *et seq.* It is undisputed that plaintiff recorded a proper abstract of judgment in the office of the Davis County Recorder on May 9, 2003.

Notwithstanding defendant's arguments and the trial court's determination, the statutory language unambiguously requires a party to only record an abstract of judgment in order to attach a lien to real property. The trial court's interpretation of the statute creates conflicts between provisions, is at odds with the statute's language and does not follow the legislative intent. The Legislature intended to streamline the process

for creating liens and create one repository for all information affecting title to real property. Nothing in the statute or legislative history indicates the Legislature was trying to create a more cumbersome process for creating and searching for liens on real property. Accordingly, the trial court erred when it determined the 2001 statutory amendments created a more cumbersome two-step process for creating liens.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. The Statute Unambiguously Requires Recording A Judgment In the County Recorder's Office in Order to Create A Lien On Real Property.**

The trial court erred when it interpreted the unambiguous language of the statute to require both a filing in the Registry of Judgments and a recording in the office of the county recorder. Plaintiff has a valid lien against the defendant's real property located in Davis County, Utah, because it recorded an abstract of judgment in the Davis County Recorder's Office on May 9, 2003. The trial court erred when its granted defendant's Motion to Quash the Writ of Execution on the grounds that plaintiff had not created an enforceable interest prior to defendant conveying his interest in the subject property.

Two provisions govern the procedure for filing a lien against real property.

First, Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1 provides:

(7)(a) After July 1, 2002, a judgment entered by a district court or a justice court in the state becomes a lien upon real property if:

(i) the judgment or an abstract of the judgment containing the information identifying the judgment debtor as described in Subsection 78-22-1.5(4) is recorded in the office of the county recorder; or

(ii) the judgment or an abstract of judgment and a separate information statement of the judgment creditor as described in Subsection 78-22-1.5(5) is recorded in the office of the county recorder.

Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1(7)(a) (2003). As will be discussed below in more detail, this section has historically governed the process for attaching a lien to real property.

According to the plain language of this statute, plaintiff created an enforceable lien by recording the abstract of judgment with the David County Recorder.

When the Registry of Judgments was created, the Legislature enacted Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5 provides, in its current version:

(2) On or after July 1, 1997, a judgment entered in a district court does not create a lien upon or affect the title to real property unless the judgment is filed in the Registry of Judgments of the office of the clerk of the district court of the county in which the property is located.

(3) (a) On or after July 1, 2002, except as provided in Subsection (3)(b), a judgment entered in a district court does not create a lien upon or affect the title to real property unless the judgment or an abstract of judgment is recorded in the office of the county recorder in which the real property of the judgment debtor is located.

(b) State agencies are exempt from the recording requirement of Subsection (3)(a).

(4) In addition to the requirements of Subsections (2) and (3)(a), any judgment that is filed in the Registry of Judgments on or after September 1, 1998, or any judgment or abstract of judgment that is recorded in the office of a county recorder after July 1, 2002, shall include . . . .

Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5(2), (3) & (4) (2001).

The sole question on appeal is whether the trial court erred in its determination that the above referenced statutes require a party to file an abstract of judgment both in the Registry of Judgments and the office of the county recorder, or whether the statutes only requires a party attempting to lien real property after July 1, 2002 to file in the office of the county recorder.

“When construing a statute, we must give effect to legislative intent.”

Versluis v. Guaranty National Companies, 842 P.2d 865, 867 (Utah 1992) (citing West Jordan v. Morrison, 656 P.2d 445, 446 (Utah 1982)). The first step is to look to the statute's plain language and only if some ambiguity exists does a court need to look further. See Schurtz v. BMW of North America, Inc., 814 P.2d 1108, 1112-1115 (Utah 1991). “To that end, we presume that the Legislature used each term advisedly, and we give effect to each term according to its ordinary and accepted meaning.” Versluis, 842 P.2d at 867.

In this case, the question is what provisions in 78-22-1 and 778-22-1.5 apply to the creation of a lien after July 1, 2002. The trial court did not address 78-22-1 and determined subsections (2) and (3) operated together rather than independently, and thus, the statute required both filings. In Schurtz v. BMW of North America, Inc., the Utah Supreme Court was faced with a similar statutory interpretation, namely whether

statutory provision operated independently or dependently. See Schurtz v. BMW of North America, Inc., 814 P.2d 1108, 1112-1115 (Utah 1991).

The first thing the court looked at was the language of the statute in light of the context of the overall statute. See id. at 1112. In this matter, Chapter 22 is appropriately titled "Judgments." See Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1. Within Chapter 22, section 1 deals with the following topics: "Duration of judgment – **Judgment as a lien upon real property** – Abstract of judgment – Small claims judgment not a lien – Appeal of judgment – Child support orders." Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1 (emphasis added). Section 1.1 addresses judgment against a party who dies after a verdict is rendered and is not applicable to this issue. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.1. Next, section 1.5 is entitled: "Definitions – Judgment recorded in Registry of Judgments." Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5. The remaining sections of Chapter 22 have no bearing on the issues in this appeal. Given this context, Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1 rather than 78-22-1.5 was intended to cover the creation of a judgment lien against real property.

Historically, section 1.5 is new relative to section 1. Prior to 1997, all judgments entered in district court immediately became liens on all of the debtor's property in the county where the judgment was entered. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1 and historical notes. In 1997, the Utah Legislature approved Senate Bill 121 which created the Registry of Judgments. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5 and historical notes,

see also Utah Legislature Rep't 1997 Vol. 2, p. 906. With the creation of the Registry of Judgments, a judgment entered in district court did not become a lien on real property until it was filed in the Registry of Judgments. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1 & -1.5.

When it was first enacted, section 1.5 contained only two paragraphs: subsection (1) defined the Registry of Judgment, and subsection (2) stated: "On or after July 1, 1997, a judgment rendered or recorded in a district court does not create a lien upon or affect the title of real property unless the judgment is recorded in the Registry of Judgments of the office of the clerk of the district court of the county in which the property is located." Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5 (1997). Furthermore, section 1 was modified in 1997 to indicate that only judgments filed **prior** to July 1, 1997 created liens on real property. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1 (1997). In creating the Registry of Judgments and enacting section 1.5, it is important to note that the 1997 version of section 1 contained no reference to the Registry of Judgments and did not set forth the procedure for creating a lien on real property **after** July 1, 1997. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1 (1997). Accordingly, between 1997 and 2002, Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5 governed the process for attaching a lien against real property and required only a filing the judgment in the Registry of Judgments.

In 2001, the Legislature passed House Bill 305, which modified **both** section 1 and section 1.5. (**R. at 88-96**) Specifically, section 1.5 was amended to include

subsection (3) which changed the requirement for attaching a lien to real property. Additionally, section 1 was modified to include subsection (7) which set forth requirements for filing a lien against real property. As amended and in their current versions, both subsection (3) to section 1.5 and subsection (7) to section 1 provide the same procedure for attaching a judgment lien to real property after July 1, 2002: A judgment becomes a lien on real property if it is recorded in the office of the county recorder. See Utah Code Ann. §§ 78-22-1(7) & -1.5(3). The 2001 modifications to section 1 still do not contain any reference to the Registry of Judgments, nor is there any reference to any provision which would require filing the judgment in the Registry of Judgment in order to lien real property. Both statutes only require recording in the office of the county recorder in order to create a judgment lien on real property.

Examining the plain language of the statutory provisions in the context of the related statutes and history of the amendments, the Utah Legislature intended to change the requirements for creating a lien on real property. Prior to 1997, a lien was created automatically upon entry of a judgment in district court. Between 1997 and 2002, a lien was created only if the judgement was filed in the Registry of Judgments. After 2002, a lien is created only by recording the judgment in the office of the county recorder. The plain language and history of the statute indicate subsections (2) and (3) of section 1.5 are meant to be read independently of one another. The Legislature did not include

any language to indicate recording the judgment was an extra requirement in addition to filing the judgment.

When interpreting the plain language of the statute, the court must look at the language in the context of the related statutory provisions. See Schurtz, 814 P.2d at 1112. Furthermore, the court must "construe statutory provisions so as to give full effect to all their terms, where possible." Id. Construing the statutes as dependent on one another, as the district court did, would create conflict between statutory provisions and force strained readings of other provisions. The only way to harmonize the requirements in section 1 with section 1.5 is to read subsections (2) and (3) of section 1.5 independently. To read them as dependent and creating a two-step process is at odds with subsection (7) of section 1. Specifically, subsection (7) of section 1 sets forth the requirements for creating a lien on real property. The only requirement in subsection (7) is to record the judgment in office of the county recorder in accordance with the notice and content provisions of subsections (4) or (5) of section 1.5. Because subsection (7) sets forth the requirements for creating a lien and does not require filing the judgment in the Registry of Judgments, the trial court's interpretation creates a conflict between sections 1 and 1.5. For this reason, subsections (2) and (3) of section 1.5 should be read to operate independently of one another in order to avoid this conflict.

Subsection (4) in section 1.5 also indicates the provisions are to operate

independently. Subsection (4) states: "In addition to the requirements of Subsections (2) and (3)(a), any judgment that is filed in the Registry of Judgments on or after September 1, 1998, or any judgment or abstract of judgment that is recorded in the office of a county recorder after July 1, 2002, shall include . . . ." Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5(4) (2001) (emphasis added). If both filing and recording were required, the Legislature would have used the word "and" rather than "or." The word "or" indicates that the Legislature was intended to require filing in one place or the other, not both.

Because a statute should be construed according to its plain language, to give proper meaning to each term and to harmonize all provisions, the district court erred when it concluded Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5 required plaintiff to file the abstract of judgment both in the Registry of Judgments and to record the abstract of judgment at the office of the county recorder. Plaintiff had a valid lien as of May 9, 2003 when it recorded the abstract of judgment in the Davis County Recorder's Office. Accordingly, the trial court erred in granting defendant's Motion to Quash.

## **II. The Legislative History Supports Plaintiff's Interpretation of the Judgment Lien Statute.**

In addition to the plain language of the statute, the Legislative history of the 2001 amendments also indicates that subsections (2) and (3) should be read independently. "For assistance in ascertaining the meaning of statutory language, we look to the background and general purpose of the statute." Versluis v. Guaranty National

Companies, 842 P.2d 865, 867 (Utah 1992) (citing Jamison v Utah Home Fire Ins. Co., 559 P.2d 958, 959 (Utah 1977)). Specifically, the history of the statute indicates an attempt to create one central repository for judgment liens on real property. Those performing title searches needed a more expedient system to verify clean titles. Because a title search must include a search at the county recorder's office, it makes sense to require a judgment lien to be recorded at the recorder's office.

The trial court's interpretation of the statute does not make sense in light of the objectives of the statute. The statute is in place to ensure notice to the debtor and notice to anyone else interested in the title of subject property. The obvious place to check is at the recorder's office. Nevertheless, defendant and the trial court would place one more hoop into the process. This hoop would serve no purpose, as all the necessary searches on property can be done at the recorder's office. Accordingly, interpreting the statute to require a two-step process does nothing more than create another technicality for anyone trying to recover a judgment. In this respect, it is important to note that those performing title searches and those trying to enforce valid judgments are often not attorneys. Nevertheless, to read the statutory provisions in 78-22-1.5 as dependent, would require lawyers and non-lawyers alike to reconcile the conflicting provisions of 78-22-1(7) with 78-22-1.5(2) & (3). In amending the statute in 2002, it is hard to imagine the Legislature making amendments which add procedural technicalities and inconsistencies

into the statute.

The Legislative history shows that the legislature intended to shift judgment filings from the office of the court clerk to the recorder. This modification was needed to assist title companies searching the records for judgment liens. **(R. at 49-50)** Previously, researchers would visit the clerk's office to locate liens, but with the advent of electronic filing, multiple court sites, expansion of the court system and the archaic archive system still employed in many rural areas, researchers found it difficult if not impossible to locate judgment liens. To rectify this problem, the bill, codified in the above statute, provided that a judgment or abstract of judgment constituted a lien when it was recorded in the office of the county recorder. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1 & -1.5. **(R. at 49-50)**

Also, fiscal notes issued during the bill's consideration demonstrate the Legislature's intention to assist title researchers and to transition filings from the office of the court clerk to the office of the recorder. "If abstracts are no longer filed with the Courts due to passage of this bill there could be a potential loss of General Fund revenue." **(R. at 98-99)** "Passage of this bill would result in cost savings to title companies resulting from the time savings on research related to liens on property." **(R. at 98-99)** There is no indication from any of these sources that the Legislature intended to create a requirement of filing in the Registry of Judgments in addition to recording with the county recorder. Such a rule would increase the cost of researching title and

make it more cumbersome.

Finally, interviews of the clerks of the court reveal that the clerks do not advise the public to file in both places, and they only recognize liens against real property if the judgment or abstract has been filed with the county recorder. (**R. at 101-02**) Likewise, the county recorder confirms that judgments need to be filed solely in his office to be a valid lien against real property. (**R. at 101-02**) Further, the Davis County attorney acknowledges that the “process used in Davis County for recording and establishing judgment liens requires only the filing of a judgment or abstract of judgment with the county recorder and does not require any filing with the clerk of the court.” (**R. at 104-05**)