2004

Kitches and Zorn v. Yong Woo Kim : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue on appeal is whether or not the trial court correctly interpreted the requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5. The statute is clear and unambiguous in its requirement that in order to maintain a judgment lien upon the real property of a judgment debtor in a county other than that in which the judgment was rendered, Utah law requires a two-step procedure. The judgment must be filed and docketed with the

clerk of the district court in the county in which the defendant has real property and the judgment or an abstract thereof must be recorded with the office of the County Recorder in the county in which the real property is located. Until both of these steps have taken place, a judgment creditor is unable to execute upon the real property of a judgment debtor.

Pursuant to the facts of this case, plaintiff completed one step, recording the judgment in the office of the County Recorder, prior to the time defendant quitclaimed his property interest to his wife. By the time plaintiff completed the second step, that of docketing the judgment in the office of the clerk of the district court, defendant possessed no interest in the real property in question. Thus, plaintiffs' Writ of Execution was properly quashed by the district court for plaintiffs' failure to perfect its judgment lien.

ARGUMENT

The district court specifically held that Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5, requires a two-step procedure in order to create a judgment lien. The court came to this conclusion based upon a reading of the statute and application of the plain meaning of the statute. The district court's interpretation was correct and when applied to the facts of this case precluded plaintiffs' from executing on defendant's real property pursuant to its Writ of Execution.

The relevant portions of Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5 are as follows:

- (2) On or after July 1, 1997, a judgment entered in a district court **does not create a lien upon or effect the title to real property unless the judgment is filed in the Registry of Judgments** in the office of the clerk of the district court **of the county in which the property is located.**
- (3) (a) On or after July 1, 2002, except as provided in Subsection (3)(b), **a judgment entered in a district court does not create a lien upon or affect the title to real property unless the judgment or an abstract of judgment is recorded in the office of the county recorder in which the real property of the judgment debtor is located.**
 - (b) State agencies are exempt from the recording requirement of Subsection (3)(a).

(Emphasis added.)

The statute's requirements are clear and unambiguous. A valid judgment lien cannot be created until the judgment or abstract is recorded in the Judgment Registry and the office of the County Recorder in the county in which the real property is located. The statute clearly sets forth the requirement that for judgments entered on or after July 1, 1997, the judgment must be filed in the Judgment Registry. Further a judgment entered on or after July 1, 2002, must also be recorded in the office of the County Recorder. There is no ambiguity in the statute, nor any exclusionary language that would indicate that a judgment creditor has the option to choose one requirement or the other. A plain reading of the statute does not indicate that judgments entered after July 1, 2002, are

required only to be recorded with the County Recorder. When the Legislature amended this section in 2001, if it had intended this interpretation, it could have stated so very easily. For example, subsection (2) could have been amended to state, “On or after July 1, 1997 and before July 1, 2002 . . .” or subsection (3) could have been amended to state that the only requirement to create a judgment lien for judgments entered after July 1, 2002, is to record the judgment in the County Recorder’s office in the county in which the real property is located.

In addition, an examination of the Amendment Notes to this statute states,

“The 2001 amendment by ch. 370, effective July 1, 2002, rewrote the section to require recording the judgment or abstract of judgment with the county recorder and to further specify the requirements for the separate information statement.”¹

There is nothing in the statute or the amendment notes to indicate that the requirement that the judgment be entered in the Judgment Registry is no longer necessary. It is also interesting to note that the Legislature found that if abstracts were no longer filed with the court there could be a potential loss of revenue to the General Fund in the amount of \$103,800. See Fiscal Notes for HB0305s3 and HB0305, Gen. Sess., (Utah 2001).²

Thus without any ambiguity in the requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5

¹ See Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5 as set forth in Addendum to Appellant’s Brief.

² See R. at 98-99.

and no exclusionary language to indicate that the Legislature had any other meaning in mind than what is plainly expressed, the trial court correctly concluded that the statute requires a two-step process for the creation of a valid judgment lien.

The plaintiffs have argued that the controlling statute in this matter is Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1. This is a general statute regarding judgments and does not make the distinction as to how to perfect a judgment lien upon real property located in a county other than that located in the county in which the judgment was entered. Subsection (7) (a) (i) and (ii), that plaintiffs are basing their argument upon, could be and should be read to apply only to judgments entered in the same county as that of the judgment debtor's real property. Whereas Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5 is very specific and unambiguous as to the requirements to perfect a judgment lien upon a judgment debtor's real property located in a county other than where the judgment was entered. In the case before this Court, the plaintiffs' obtained a judgment in Salt Lake County. If defendant had owned real property in Salt Lake County, the only other requirement for the plaintiffs would be to record the judgment in the Salt Lake County Recorder's Office. This is true because the judgment would have already been entered into the Judgment Registry for the district court in Salt Lake County. However, defendant's real property was located in Davis County. Recording the judgment only with the Davis County Recorder would not have

resulted in notice of the judgment in the Judgment Registry for the district court in Davis County.

Therefore, until both subsections (2) and (3)(a) of Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5 are complied with, a judgment creditor cannot create a lien upon or affect the title to real property. It is also interesting to note that the first line of Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5 Subsection (4) indicates that both subsections (2) and (3)(a) are necessary for the creation of a judgment lien when it states, “In addition to the requirements of Subsections (2) and (3)(a) . . .”

Applying the facts of this matter, there is no dispute that plaintiffs recorded their judgment in the Davis County Recorder’s Office on May 9, 2003 pursuant to subsection (3) and docketed the judgment in Davis County until July 29, 2003, pursuant to subsection (2). Also there is no dispute that the defendant had no interest in the property after June 13, 2003. The plaintiffs complied with both requirements of the statute on July 29, 2003, when the abstract of judgment was filed in the Registry of Judgments in the Second District Court. At that time plaintiffs had a statutorily valid lien except that defendant did not own any property in Davis County and had no interest in the property at 1106 East 400 North, Bountiful, Utah, that plaintiffs could execute upon.

Further support for defendant’s position is found in the nature and effectiveness of judgment liens upon a debtor’s real property. This type of lien is only effective in

enforcing a judgment creditor's claim upon real property in two instances. First, when a judgment debtor attempts to sell the real property encumbered by a valid judgment lien, he must pay the judgment lien creditor, as well as other obligations on the property, in order to transfer a clear title to the buyer. Second when the judgment creditor attempts to execute upon its lien through a writ of execution. However, it is possible that a judgment debtor may decide never to sell his real property. He may continue to utilize the property and pay any superior liens and obligations on that property. In such a case the only option for a judgment creditor to obtain the property and/or satisfy its judgment is to execute upon the property with a writ of execution. Thus, at some point, a judgment creditor will most likely have to resort to a writ of execution to satisfy its judgment. The requirements for a writ of execution are found at Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 69. This Rule provides the procedures for issuance of a writ of execution and states in relevant part:

(A) Issuance of a writ of execution. Unless otherwise ordered by the Court, a writ of execution may be issued at any time within eight years following the entry of a judgment or order . . . either in the county in which such judgment was rendered, or in any county in which a transcript thereof has been **filed and docketed in the office of the clerk of the district court**

...

(B) Contents of writ and to whom it may be directed . . . It shall be issued to the sheriff of the county where the real property or some part thereof is situated . . . It must intelligibly refer to the judgment, stating the court, **the docket number, the county where the same is entered or docketed**, the names of the parties, the judgment, and if it is for the

payment of money, the amount thereof, and the amount actually due thereon.

(Emphasis added).

It is clear from Rule 69 that before a writ of execution can be issued, a copy of the judgment or abstract must be filed and docketed in the office of the clerk of the district court in the county where the property is located because the contents of the writ must refer to the docketing information in the district court. If the judgment is never docketed in the county in which the real property is located, then the writ of execution cannot contain the required information for issuance.

Plaintiffs' position is that the general requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1 are all that is required for a valid judgment lien. Yet this position fails to account for the specific requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5 and Rule 69. Plaintiffs have made no attempt to coordinate the plain meaning of these interrelated statutes and rules. On the other hand, defendant's position is that the statutes discussed require both steps to be completed in order to create a lien on a judgment debtor's real property. Until both steps are completed there is no enforceable judgment lien that can attach to real property. By the time plaintiff completed the second step, defendant owned no property in Davis County. Thus, defendant's position is that the specific requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5 and Rule 69 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is the position supported by the district court and should be upheld by this Court.

Plaintiffs have offered no reasonable explanation as to why they are not required to comply with the clear requirements of this statute. Rather plaintiffs have proposed that because Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1 does not include such a requirement that is all that needs to be considered. Yet they have offered no explanation as to why the requirements of § 78-22-1.5 do not apply to them. Plaintiffs' position appears to be that a general statute supersedes a more specific related statute and rule specifically directed to the facts at issue herein.

This Court has often been asked to interpret statutory meaning and has set forth several guidelines for doing so.

“When interpreting statutes, we determine the statute’s meaning by first looking to the statute’s plain language, and give effect to the plain language unless the language is ambiguous.” State v. Schofield, 2002 UT 132, P5, 63 P.3d 667; Wilson Supply, Inc., v. Fradan Mfg. Corp., 2002 UT 94, P14, 54 P.3d 1177 (quoting Blackner v. State Dep’t of Transp., 2002 UT 44, P12, 48 P.3d 949); see also State Dep’t of Natural Res. V. Huntington-Cleveland Irrigation Co., 2002 UT 75, 13, 52 P.3d 1257. Furthermore, the “plain language of a statute is to be read as a whole, and its provisions interpreted in harmony with other provisions in the same statute and ‘with other statutes under the same and related chapters.’” Lyon v. Burton, 2000 UT 19, P17, 5 P.3d 616 (quoting Roberts v. Erickson, 851 P.2d 643, 644 (Utah 1993) (per curiam) see also Silver v. Auditing Div.,

820 P.2d 912, 914 (Utah 1991); Osuala v. Aetna Life & Cas., 608 P.2d 242, 243 (Utah 1980.)

“A fundamental rule of statutory construction is that statutes are to be construed according to their plain language.” State v. Pixton, 2004 UT App 275, P5, 506 Utah Adv. Rep. 31 quoting O’Keefe, 956 P.2d at 281; Larsen, 865 P.2d at 1357; see also Dick Simon Trucking, Inc. v. Utah St. Tax Comm., 2004 UT 11, 84 P3d 1197.

“Only if the language of a statute is ambiguous do we resort to other modes of construction.” O’Keefe 956 P.2d at 281. “Further ‘unambiguous language . . . may not be interpreted to contradict its plain meaning.’” Lorenzo v. Workforce Appeals Bd., 2002 UT App 371, P11, 58 P.3d 873 (quoting Zoll & Branch, P.C. v. Asay, 932 P.2d 592, 594 (Utah 1997)) “A corollary of this rule is that ‘a statutory term should be interpreted and applied according to its usually accepted meaning, where the ordinary meaning of the term results in an application that is neither unreasonable confused, inoperable, nor in blatant contradiction of the express purpose of the statute.’” O’Keefe, 956 P.2d at 281 (quoting Morton Int’l, Inc., v. Auditing Div., 814 P.2d 581, 590 (Utah 1991); see also State v. Tooele County, 2002 UT 8, P10, 44 P.3d 680.


From the foregoing case law it is clear that this Court has addressed this issue on a number of occasions and has stated the status of Utah law on this subject in numerous ways. There is no question that in Utah an unambiguous statute is to be interpreted

according to its plain meaning and in such a way so as not to contradict or render inoperable other related statutes. Both plaintiffs and defendant agree that the terms of the governing statutes are not ambiguous thus there is no need to look to other modes of construction or legislative intent. The district court found that the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5 were not ambiguous, but clearly required a two-step procedure to perfect a judgment lien. Accordingly, based upon the foregoing, defendant would urge this Court to apply the specific and unambiguous requirements of the relevant statutes, Utah Code Ann. §§ 78-22-1.5 and 78-22-1 as well as Rule 69 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure to the issue before it and uphold the district court's determination that plaintiffs did not possess a valid judgment lien until July 29, 2003.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, defendant requests that this Court uphold the trial court's interpretation of Utah Code Ann. § 78-22-1.5 and its decision to quash plaintiffs' Writ of Execution for failure to comply with the judgment lien requirements therein.